STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

V.

MELVIN FOURNEY, SR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000103

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

DEC 14 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion and commit reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury on evidence of good reputation and character as requested when there was evidence in the record to support the charge?

2.

Did the trial judge commit reversible error by admitting a series of crime scene and autopsy photographs, which graphically depicted the decedent's body and injury, where the evidence was cumulative and unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE, and where the only purpose was to inflame the passions of the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Chester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on January 14, 2016 for murder and possession of a knife during the commission of a violent crime. R. 284-287. His case was called to trial on January 9, 2018 before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, and a jury. R. 1. Deputy Solicitor Candice Lively represented the state, and William Frick represented Appellant. R. 1.

On January 10, 2018, the jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a knife during the commission of a violent crime. R. 239, ll. 9-20. He was sentenced to ten years' imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. R. 246, ll. 6-21.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant and the decedent, Leonard “Buster” Hayes, lived together in a small house without air conditioning in Chester. R. 98, ll. 17-21. Appellant, who was seventy years old, treated Hayes as a son. The two were very close and had lived together for years. R. 17, l. 25 – 64, l. 24; R. 23, ll. 17-18. Appellant let Hayes live with him because “he didn’t have nowhere else to go.” R. 46, ll. 4-8. “Every once in a while they would argue” and “fuss at each other,” but most of the time Appellant and Hayes got along well. R. 43, ll. 15-23; R. 44, l. 25 – 45, l. 15.

Appellant, who had poor vision, never left the house. As his son explained, “You couldn’t even get him to ride to the store with you.” R. 47, ll. 18-21. Consequently, Appellant depended on Hayes and his children to buy food and other necessities for him. State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant).

During the late morning hours of September 1, 2015, Appellant and Hayes had a rare confrontation. Hayes, who had just prepared a meal, was sitting on the couch in the small living room with a bowl of food. A kitchen steak knife was resting next to Hayes on the couch. State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). Appellant, who was standing, leaned in and asked Hayes, “What was we eating?” State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). Hayes grabbed the knife, snagged Appellant’s inner wrist, and exclaimed, “That’s what we’re eating!” State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). After Hayes put the knife back on the couch, Appellant took the knife and stabbed Hayes in the chest. Appellant thought he had merely nicked Hayes on his shirt. State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). He explained, “I didn’t know I hit him that hard.” State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant).

Once Appellant realized Hayes was not moving, he called his son and daughter-in-law, Tony and Teresa Fourney, and asked them to come over “right quick.” R. 39, ll. 19-25; R. 96, l. 23 – 97, l. 3; State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). When Tony and Teresa arrived at the house, they saw Appellant’s neighbor, Edward Nelson, in the yard, who told them, “Y’all need to go in there, I think Melvin done killed Buster [Hayes].”¹ R. 41, ll. 15-19. They found Appellant sitting in a chair by the front door “shaking.” R. 42, ll. 4-11. Hayes was “slumped over on the couch.” R. 97, ll. 1-3. Appellant immediately asked Teresa to call 911. R. 96, l. 23 – 97, l. 3. Appellant told the 911 operator what happened. State’s Exhibit No. 5 (Recorded 911 Call).

While they waited for law enforcement and EMS to arrive, Appellant sat in a chair by the front door. State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). Shortly after his arrest, he gave a recorded statement to law enforcement. R. 77, l. 19 – 79, l. 18; See State’s Exhibit No. 1 (Recorded Statement of Defendant). Appellant gave a second recorded statement the next day, which was consistent with his first statement. R. 89, l. 24 – 91, l. 16; See State’s Exhibit No. 2 (Recorded Statement of Defendant).

The trial judge charged the jury with self-defense and the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 229, l. 13 – 230, l. 21; R. 231, l. 5 – 232, l. 24. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter. R. 239, ll. 9-20.

¹ Teresa testified Nelson said, “Y’all better go in there and check on Buster [Hayes], I think Melvin done stabbed him.” R. 97, ll. 4-15.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge abused his discretion and committed reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury on evidence of good reputation and character as requested when there was evidence in the record to support the charge

Relevant Facts

At the close of the state's case, Appellant requested the trial judge charge the jury on Appellant's good character and reputation. Specifically, defense counsel requested the judge charge the jury with the following language:

The defendant has presented evidence of his good reputation and character to show that it would be inconsistent with his committing the crime. The weight you give that testimony like all other testimony in this case is for you to decide in your good judgment. You may consider the testimony of the defendant's good character along with all of the other evidence in deciding whether or not the defendant committed the alleged crime.

R. 192, l. 20 – 193, l. 2.

In support of his request, counsel asserted, "I asked every witness that was up there did they know my client, had they known him to be violent, had they known him to be mean, had they known him to cause any trouble to them or in the community." R. 192, ll. 11-14.

In response, the deputy solicitor claimed there was no evidence presented of Appellant's reputation in the community. Instead, she maintained Appellant merely presented evidence that he and the decedent had never been "violent to one another before." R. 192, ll. 5-10; R. 193, ll. 3-20. She concluded there was no evidence of Appellant's reputation in the community to warrant the charge.² R. 193, l. 3 – 194, l. 15.

² During her argument, the deputy solicitor cited to Rule 608, SCRE. Her argument concerning Rule 608 is hard to follow. Defense counsel correctly asserted that Rule 608 was not relevant as

The trial judge ultimately agreed with the solicitor and refused to give the requested instruction. He told defense counsel he could “argue it” to the jury. R. 194, ll. 16-18. Counsel, taking exception to the ruling, asserted, “I would just state for the record I believe I have elicited testimony that talks to my client’s reputation. There is evidence in the record about my client’s reputation for not being turbulent, not being violent, I believe that is enough evidence to - - the scintilla of evidence that is required for a charge.” R. 194, ll. 19-24.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

Discussion

The trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to instruct the jury on Appellant’s good character and reputation in the community where there was evidence presented to support the charge.

“It is well settled that a criminal defendant may introduce evidence of his good character.” State v. Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 317, 692 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2010) (citing Rules 404(a)(1) and Rule 405, SCORE); see also State v. Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 92, 41 S.E.2d 625, 627 (1947). “Generally, where requested and there is evidence of good character, a defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself

to whether there was evidence in the record to support the requested charge. R. 193, l. 3 – 194, l. 15.

create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant.” State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 170, 539 S.E.2d 71, 73 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982)). “The good reputation of the accused, if proved, may be taken into consideration by the jury in determining whether or not he committed the crime charged.” Id. (citing Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 41 S.E.2d 625).

In State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924), our Supreme Court considered the propriety of the following jury charge:

As to good reputation, you can consider that like any other testimony. Not that the law says a man can kill another because he has a good reputation, but the jury can take the good reputation into consideration in determining whether or not he committed a crime.

Hill, 129 S.C. at 170, 123 S.E. at 818.

On appeal from his conviction for manslaughter, Hill argued, “The jury should not have been limited, but the good reputation should have been considered, like any other testimony, throughout the whole case, and as bearing thereupon, without any limitation whatever.” Id. at 170, 123 S.E. at 818 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Supreme Court exclaimed, “The charge by its very terms answers the appellant’s criticism. Evidence of the defendant’s good *reputation* for peace and good order is strongly persuasive of his good *character* in that respect, and is offered for the very purpose stated by the circuit judge, to show the improbability that the defendant would have committed or did commit the crime charged.” Hill, 129 S.C. at 170, 123 S.E. at 818 (emphasis in original).

The Supreme Court revisited the issue regarding a jury charge as to good character and good reputation in State v. Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 41 S.E.2d 625 (1947). In Lyles, the defendant, convicted of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, argued the

trial court erred “in failing to charge that the jury ‘had a right to consider the defendant’s good character and reputation and that it was a substantial fact in the case, if proven, and should be considered by the jury.’” Id. at 92, 41 S.E.2d at 627. The Court held:

There can be no doubt of the right of appellant to put in evidence his good character and it was “for the jury to consider it in connection with the other evidence, and determine what force and effect it should have.” State v. Barth, 25 S.C. 175, 60 Am.Rep. 496 (1886). The good reputation of the accused, if proved, may be taken into consideration by the jury in determining whether or not he committed the crime charged. State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924).

Lyles, 210 S.C. at 92, 41 S.E.2d at 627.

Although Lyles presented a witness who testified to his peaceable and law abiding reputation, he did not ask the trial judge to give a good reputation charge. Thus, the Court held the issue was not preserved for appellate review. Id.

After Lyles, the good character and reputation charge was discussed in State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982). On appeal from his conviction for armed robbery, Green argued the trial judge erred in refusing to instruct the jury, as requested, that evidence of good character alone may be sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt of the guilt of the accused. Id. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335. Our Supreme Court explained, “Generally, where requested and there is evidence of good character, a defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant.” Id. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335 (citing Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 41 S.E.2d 625).

Despite the general rule, the Court in Green held the trial judge’s refusal to instruct the jury on the issue of good character was not reversible error because the defendant admitted his

presence and participation in the robbery. Id. The record conclusively established Green's guilt. Id. The Court concluded the error, if any, could not reasonably have affected the result and was harmless. Id.

"The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." Harrison, 343 S.C. at 172, 539 S.E.2d at 74 (citing State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 433 S.E.2d 848 (1993)). "A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence." Id. "A trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and which is supported by the evidence." Id. (citing State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 466 S.E.2d 375 (Ct.App.1996)).

Here, Appellant presented evidence through cross-examination of Appellant's good reputation and character. Specifically, the decedent's mother, Thelma Hayes, who grew up with Appellant, testified that she had never known Appellant to be violent and that she trusted Appellant with her son. R. 24, ll. 16-23. Edward Nelson, Appellant's neighbor, who knew Appellant "practically all [his] life," testified that he did not know Appellant to be a violent person, that he had never heard about Appellant being violent, and that he never heard anyone having any trouble with Appellant whatsoever. R. 34, l. 12 – 35, l. 7. Appellant's son, Tony Fourney, testified that he had never "known him [Appellant] to have any trouble with anybody" or "known him to be violent." R. 50, ll. 4-10. Lastly, Appellant's daughter-in-law, Teresa Fourney, testified that Appellant was a "good person," was not a "mean person," and that she had never "seen him get violent." R. 108, ll. 6-19.

The above testimony is ample evidence of Appellant's good character and reputation to support the requested charge. Consequently, the trial judge abused his discretion and committed reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury on Appellant's character and reputation.

Appellant was entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of his good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant.

Based on the foregoing argument, Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and sentence and remand for a new trial.

The trial judge committed reversible error by admitting a series of crime scene and autopsy photographs, which graphically depicted the decedent's body and injury, where the evidence was cumulative and unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE, and where the only purpose was to inflame the passions of the jury.

Relevant Facts

The state sought to introduce a series of photographs taken of the crime scene during the testimony of Tammy Levister, who was the lead investigator and, at the time, the interim chief for the Chester Police Department. R. 52, ll. 2-7. Levister processed the scene and took photographs of the decedent's body. R. 54, ll. 7-16. Appellant objected to State's Exhibit Nos. 9-13 and State's Exhibit Nos. 27-28, which were all photographs of the decedent's body as it was found on the couch in Appellant's house. R. 57, ll. 12-19. Defense counsel argued the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Specifically, counsel asserted, "Your Honor, obviously the State has the right to introduce evidence of the injury, . . . however, there are several pictures of this injury. I also believe [these] pictures, particularly the ones that show[] a frontal view of the victim[,] [are] more prejudicial than probative and . . . should be excluded." R. 57, l. 22 – 58, l. 2.

The solicitor emphasized that the state had to prove malice aforethought. She argued the state wanted to show the "defenseless position" of the decedent seated on the couch and that the decedent's injury "wasn't just a small nick." She asserted:

This was an intentional violent plunging of a knife into the chest of the victim. In order for me to show that I need to show that this 70 year old man, despite how he may appear to the jury at this point in time, he grabbed that steak knife and without hesitation plunged it into the chest of this victim. And the way that the size of the wound, how he was actually positioned and the fact that there was food, which is evidence that this person was - - he was sitting there eating food on

his lap, he was not in a position where he was going to attack or harm the defendant, and in order for me to show that I need those photos to come in so the jury can see the violence of this particular incident.

R. 58, l. 4 – 59, l. 4.

As a follow up, defense counsel maintained that the photographs do not accurately reflect the position of the body because the decedent had been moved. Emergency Medical Services (EMS) personnel cut the decedent's shirt and placed probes on the body. R. 59, l. 5 – 60, l. 2.

The trial judge ultimately admitted State's Exhibit No. 10-13 and State's Exhibit No. 27-28 because they "show the angle of the body" and "the size of the wound." R. 60, ll. 3-18. However, he excluded State's Exhibit No. 9, which was a "full frontal view showing [the decedent's] entire face and all of the blood and the wound," because it "would be too prejudicial."³ R. 60, ll. 13-18.

Subsequently, during the testimony of the pathologist who conducted the autopsy, the state sought to admit a series of close up photographs of the decedent's injury and body after it had been dissected. These photographs were marked as State's Exhibit Nos. 29-36. R. 131, ll. 10-12. Defense counsel objected arguing the photographs were cumulative and "objectionable under [Rule] 403 as being more prejudicial than probative." R. 131, ll. 13-24. He asserted:

Obviously we have the pathological report. The doctor can - - has done an excellent job of articulating in the report and will do so on the stand of describing the injuries without having to show these rather what I would call gory photographs. I certainly understand that the State is trying to demonstrate the depth [of the wound] and their allegations of the force used but I believe they can do that without having to introduce these pictures to the jury. That's my objection basically is being cumulative and more prejudicial than probative.

R. 131, l. 22 – 132, l. 8.

³ Appellant did not designate State's Exhibit No. 9 because the Chester County Clerk of Court maintains it does not have a copy of this exhibit since it was only marked for identification.

Citing to State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014), the solicitor argued the photographs were admissible given the state's burden of proof. Anticipating a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter, the solicitor maintained the photographs were necessary to show "the level of violence and intent by the defendant." She said out of twenty-seven photographs taken during the autopsy, she only sought to admit nine "that are specific to what I believe the State has to prove in order to show murder." Moreover, the solicitor claimed the photographs were necessary "in order for the State to be able to show those jurors how vicious of a stab wound that this was to the victim, not only the depth but also how the knife would have went in and then with a jagged serrated edge came back out and actually tore, that's the reason why there's that unusual wound to the victim." Lastly, referring to State's Exhibit No. 35, the solicitor said she "changed" the photograph to a "more muted color so that the blood wouldn't be so obvious to show where the rib was actually separated from the sternum whenever the knife went into the victim." She concluded the photographs were not "intended at all to be unfair or unduly prejudicial." R. 132, l. 10 – 133, l. 23.

After proffering a portion of the pathologist's testimony, the trial judge excluded State's Exhibit Nos. 29-30, but ruled State's Exhibit Nos. 31-36 were admissible "after properly balancing the prejudicial versus probative value."⁴ R. 140, l. 18 – 141, l. 4.

Standard of Review

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 529-530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014) (quoting State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted). "This Court is bound by the trial

⁴ Appellant did not designate State's Exhibit Nos. 29-30 because the Chester County Clerk of Court maintains it does not have a copy of these exhibits since they were only marked for identification.

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