ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000103

RECEIVED
DEC 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MELVIN FOURNEY, SR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

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

("It is . . . well settled that the weight and sufficiency of the evidence is for the jury. It is the province of that body to weigh the evidence and decide on its sufficiency in reaching a verdict."); State v. Battle, 408 S.C. 109, 119, 757 S.E.2d 737, 742 (Ct. App. 2014) ("The task of determining the weight of the evidence lies within the exclusive province of the jury."); cf. Stukes, 416 S.C., at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483 ("Specifying this qualification applies to one witness creates the inference the same is not true for others."); State v. Cheeks, 408 S.C. 198, 200, 758 S.E.2d 715, 716 (2014) (finding a "strong evidence" jury instruction to be improper where it "unduly emphasized the evidence" and "deprived the jury of its prerogative to draw inferences and to weigh evidence").

For all those reasons, the trial judge, who otherwise presented instructions that fully provided the jurors with all the relevant law needed for them to be able to properly decide Appellant's case, correctly declined to present a jury instruction that would have singled out Appellant's good character evidence alone since such an instruction would have constituted a confusing, problematic, impermissible, and unconstitutional comment on the facts. See State v. Thorne, 237 S.C. 248, 251, 116 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1960) ("The Judge must be careful to avoid expressing, or even intimating, any opinion, as to the facts, and if he does so, whether intentionally or unintentionally, a new trial must be granted. Under our Constitution the jury is the exclusive judge of the facts, and the true meaning and real object is that the jury must be left to form its own judgment, unbiased by any expressions, or even intimations, of opinion by the Judge."); see also Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 474, n. 5 (1948) ("A judge of long trial and appellate experience has uttered a warning which, in the opinion of the writer, we might well have heeded in determining whether to grant certiorari here: '* * * evidence of good character is to be used like any other, once it gets before the jury, and the less they are told about

the grounds for its admission, or what they shall do with it, the more likely they are to use it sensibly. The subject seems to gather mist which discussion serves only to thicken, and which we can scarcely hope to dissipate by anything further we can add.’ ” (citation omitted)); Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-473 (recognizing a jury charge is correct if it correctly defines the relevant and applicable law when read as a whole); cf. State v. Edwards, 127 S.C. 116, ___, 120 S.E. 490, 491 (1923) (finding the trial judge correctly refused to instruct the jury the absence of a motive may be sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt because such an instruction would have constituted an impermissible comment on the facts). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

B. Harmlessness of Any Error Resulting from the Trial Judge’s Decision Not to Present the Requested Instruction to the Jury

Most trial errors, including errors involving jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809; see State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 98, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013) (“[E]rroneous jury instructions are subject to harmless error analysis.”). When an error is found in a case on appeal, an appellate court must ordinarily still review the record as a whole to ascertain the impact of that error. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006); see State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) (“Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless.”); see also United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[I]t is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record *as a whole* and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]” (emphasis added)). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on the materiality of the error in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs

this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Significantly, after reviewing the entire record, the appellate court will typically not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result, and errors are generally deemed harmless when they do not contribute to the verdict. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991); see State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008) (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”).

In the case at bar, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred by declining to instruct the jury on good character evidence, any error was nonetheless harmless and non-prejudicial because the evidence of Appellant’s criminal responsibility for unlawfully killing Victim was absolutely overwhelming. Demonstrating that fact, testimony from an eyewitness who observed Appellant angrily stab Victim on the date of the incident was presented, and Appellant himself readily acknowledged he fatally and intentionally stabbed Victim out of anger through multiple statements that were introduced during trial. Cf. Green, 278 S.C. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335 (concluding an error resulting from the refusal to instruct the jury on the defendant’s good character evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the fact Green admitted he participated in the charged crime). In light of that overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt, Appellant’s good character—assuming the good character evidence was, in fact, accurate—could not have excused him of criminal responsibility for Victim’s death and, instead, could have at best only been a factor relevant in determining whether he acted with the malice aforethought required for his act to have constituted the indicted offense of murder.¹⁴ See State

¹⁴ Notably, the jurors—perhaps based on the evidence of Appellant’s good character—acquitted Appellant of murder, which was a decision in accord with defense counsel’s closing argument

v. Graham, 636 A.2d 852, 858 (Conn. App. Ct. 1994) (recognizing a person who previously exhibited good character can be capable of committing a crime). Therefore, any error made in regard to the requested jury instruction could not have had any impact on the outcome of Appellant's trial, which ended with Appellant *not* being convicted of murder, and, thus, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) ("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."); State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant's guilt); see also Haselden, 353 S.C. at 196, 577 S.E.2d at 448 (finding the erroneous admission of evidence was harmless where its impact was minimal in the context of the entire record); cf. Green, 278 S.C. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335 ("[T]he refusal in this case to instruct the jury on the issue of good character was not reversible error, because we are not convinced that such refusal prejudiced the appellant."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

remarks contending Appellant's good character was incompatible with him acting maliciously when he fatally stabbed Victim. (R. p. 197; p. 239).

II.

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting a limited number of crime scene and autopsy photographs depicting the injuries sustained by the victim when he was fatally stabbed by Appellant because those photographs were highly probative towards establishing how the victim was killed along with the nature and extent of his fatal injuries and the photographs' high probative value greatly outweighed any potential undue prejudice that could have resulted from their admission.

Appellant contends the trial judge abused his broad discretion over evidentiary matters by admitting six different photographs which were either taken at the crime scene or during Victim's autopsy. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the "gruesome" and "graphic" photographs were only admitted to inflame the passions of the jury and were far more prejudicial than probative. To the contrary, the photographs, which depicted the positioning of Victim's body on a couch at the crime scene, the nature and depth of the stab wound to Victim's chest, and the scope of Victim's injuries, were highly probative and relevant towards establishing both how Victim died and how much force was employed to cause Victim's injuries, which were important issues that went directly to Appellant's criminal responsibility for the killing. Moreover, although somewhat graphic, the photographs were not so gruesome, gory, or extreme that their potential for undue prejudice substantially outweighed their high probative value under the circumstances of Appellant's case. As a result, the trial judge did not manifestly abuse his broad discretion by admitting the photographic evidence during trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

RELEVANT FACTS

During the course of Appellant's trial for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, evidence and testimony, including Appellant's own self-incriminating admissions, was presented to establish Appellant fatally stabbed Victim with a knife with sufficient force to fully pierce Victim's heart and sever one of Victim's ribs from his

sternum while Victim was sitting on a couch eating a meal. (R. pp. 27-32; pp. 81-82; p. 88; pp. 91-92; p. 103; p. 146; p. 148; State's Ex. # 1; State's Ex. # 2; State's Ex. # 5). To demonstrate the accuracy of that testimony and evidence and provide corroboration and support for it, the solicitor sought to admit a number of photographs taken at both the crime scene and during Victim's autopsy. (R. p. 56; p. 131).

Regarding the photographs taken at the crime scene, the solicitor moved to admit twenty-three different photographs during the testimony of Investigator Levister, who was present at the crime scene, personally took the photographs, and attested to their accuracy. (R. p. 52; p. 54; p. 61). The vast majority of those photographs simply depicted the residence itself, the knife used to stab Victim, and various blood droplets found on the floor of the residence while a few of them depicted the positioning of Victim's body on the couch along with the fatal stab wound to Victim's chest. (State's Exs. # 6-28 (Photographs)).

When the photographs were offered into evidence, defense counsel indicated he had no objections to many of them but he did object to seven particular images.¹⁵ (R. p. 57). Specifically, defense counsel objected to every single photograph taken at the crime scene that depicted Victim or any portion of his body in any manner, including a photograph that merely showed the lower portion of Victim's uninjured leg. (R. p. 57; State's Exs. # 9-13; State's Exs. # 27-28). Inconsistent with his objection, defense counsel then conceded the solicitor could properly introduce some photographs of Victim's injuries but maintained any photograph containing a "frontal view" of Victim would be more prejudicial than probative.¹⁶ (R. pp. 57-

¹⁵ On appeal, Appellant has abandoned the objection to all but two of the crime scene photographs. (App. Br. p. 14).

¹⁶ Since Victim was stabbed in the chest, his injuries were obviously on the front side of his body. (R. p. 130).

58). Furthermore, defense counsel argued it was possible Victim's body had been moved before the photographs were taken. (R. pp. 59-60). In rebuttal, the solicitor argued the objected-to photographs depicted the defenseless nature of Victim at the time of the stabbing, showed Victim was killed while eating food based on the nearby bowl, refuted Appellant's claim of only inflicting a small nick, demonstrated the violent nature of the stabbing, and were not unduly prejudicial. (R. pp. 58-59). After considering the arguments of counsel and reviewing the photographs, the trial judge ruled all the photographs could be admitted except for one photograph that depicted a "full frontal view of [Victim's] entire face and all of the blood and the wound and everything," which he concluded would be unnecessarily prejudicial. (R. p. 60). The approved photographs were then admitted into evidence over defense counsel's objection, and Investigator Levister used the photographs to explain what she found at the crime scene. (R. pp. 61-68).

Similarly, regarding the photographs taken at the time of Victim's autopsy, the solicitor moved to admit eight photographs during the testimony of Dr. Robert Thomas, who was a medical doctor and the expert pathologist who conducted Victim's autopsy following his death. (R. pp. 124-126; p. 131). One of those photographs simply depicted the knife used to stab Victim positioned next to a ruler, two of the photographs depicted a portion of Victim's face and upper body along with the stab wound, two of the photographs depicted the pathologist measuring the depth of the stab wound without Victim's face visible, one of the photographs depicted the pathologist measuring the wound itself, and two of the photographs depicted the portion of Victim's rib that was cleanly severed by the knife. (State's Exs. # 29-36 (Photographs)).

When the photographs were offered into evidence, defense counsel objected to all of them as cumulative, more prejudicial than probative, “gory,” and unnecessary in light of the testimony that could be presented by the pathologist.¹⁷ (R. pp. 131-132; p. 140). In rebuttal, the solicitor maintained the photographs taken during the autopsy were important to illustrate the viciousness of the stabbing, directly show the depth of the stab wound, and reflect both Appellant’s intent and the level of violence employed. (R. pp. 132-133). The solicitor further noted she was only seeking to admit a few of the available photographs from the autopsy in order to avoid unnecessary prejudice. (R. pp. 132-133). After considering the matter and reviewing the photographs, the trial judge indicated he had conducted the necessary balancing test and determined six of the photographs could be admitted while the only two depicting any portion of Victim’s face would be excluded. (R. p. 140; State’s Exs. # 29-30). The approved photographs were then admitted into evidence over defense counsel’s objection, and Dr. Thomas, who had indicated the photographs would be “very helpful” for him by providing visual support for his testimony, used the photographs to explain Victim’s injuries to the jury, demonstrate how far into Victim’s body the knife blade penetrated, and show the jury where Victim’s rib had been severed by the knife. (R. p. 139; pp. 142-149).

Thereafter, as the trial proceeded forward, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (R. pp. 195-220). During defense counsel’s closing argument, defense counsel contended Appellant was not physically capable of exerting the force necessary to have stabbed Victim in the manner in which Victim was stabbed, urged the jury to find Appellant had not acted with malice when he killed Victim, and further claimed Victim was either accidentally killed or killed in self-defense. (R. p. 197; pp. 201-202). Furthermore, defense counsel, who

¹⁷ On appeal, Appellant has abandoned the objection to all but four of the autopsy photographs. (App. Br. p. 14).

presumably was not a medical doctor or pathologist, maintained Dr. Thomas's testimony indicating Victim's rib was severed by the knife was not plausible and should not be believed while opining it was possible Victim's rib was broken by the medical personnel who purportedly attempted to treat Victim at the scene. (R. pp. 201-202). Following those remarks, the solicitor called the jurors' attention to the admitted photographs during her closing argument and contended they illustrated the level of force used in the stabbing, which she asserted was relevant to Appellant's criminal intent. (R. p. 217).

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